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Monday, February 2, 2009


--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


The Board is sitting this morning to hear an application filed on January 7th by Westcoast Energy Inc. and Union Gas Limited to review and vary a part of this Board's decision of November 19th, 2008.


May we have the appearances, please?

Appearances:


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Michael Penny.  I'm counsel for Union Gas and for Westcoast Energy, the applicants, and the moving party.  With me is Mr. Kitchen.


MR. RYDER:  My name is Ryder.  I appear for the City of Kitchener.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ryder.


MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MS. COCHRANE:  Ljuba Cochrane for Board Staff.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Submissions by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Well, you have our factum, and I am not going to read it.  I am going to try to get to the point and be as brief as possible.


This motion of course arises from an application made to the Board under Section 43(2)(a) of the Act for leave to transfer Union's voting shares from Westcoast Energy to a limited partnership that is to be wholly-owned by Westcoast.


It's worth remembering just at the outset, Mr. Chairman, in the context of this motion, what the Board's statutory authority was on the original application.


Section 43 of the Act is reproduced at page 71 of the compendium that I provided, and you should have a copy of a document called "Compendium of Material", Mr. Chairman, that contains the Board's decision and various excerpts of material of evidence, and so on.


If you look at page 71 --


MR. KAISER:  Can I just stop you for a second?  For some reason, mine stops at 61.  I don't know why that is.


MS. COCHRANE:  Mr. Chair, can we make this our first exhibit?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MS. COCHRANE:  It will be Exhibit 1.1, Union factum and appended compendium.

Exhibit No. K1.1:  Union factum and appended compendium.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Do you have the last ten pages?  I don't know why mine is...


MR. PENNY:  Maybe the printer ran out of paper.  Perhaps Mr. Schuch can...


MR. SCHUCH:  The pages are numbered here.


MR. KAISER:  I have it now.


MR. PENNY:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


So page 71, this is an excerpt from section 43(2), and it says that:

"No person without first obtaining an order from the Board granting leave shall..."


And then it goes on to say:

"...acquire voting securities which exceed 20 percent of the voting securities of the transmitter."


So the point is that the Board's authority was to grant leave to Westcoast to do something, in this case to transfer Union's voting shares to a limited partnership that would be wholly owned by Westcoast.  So it was not a rate application.  It was not an application under section 36.


The Board's authority was to grant leave or not grant leave to a management initiative involving a technical change of control.


As you know, in the decision of November 19, 2008, the Board approved the transfer of Union's voting shares from Westcoast to a wholly-owned limited partnership, and the approval was subject to three conditions.


The first condition was that the costs of the transaction, including the costs of the Board's proceedings, would be borne not by Union, but by Union's shareholder.  The second was that Union and Westcoast would file letters confirming that the limited partnership would be bound by the undertakings given to the Lieutenant Governor in Council, and the third was, of course, that Union would reduce its rates, quote, "to reflect the cost reduction of $1.3 million resulting from the reorganization."


Now, the second condition has already been fulfilled.  The letters confirming that the limited partnership would be bound by the undertakings were filed with the Board and were, in fact, attached to the decision.


The first condition is, in my submission, not controversial.  Both applicants have confirmed that Union will not bear any of the costs of the transfer or of these proceedings.


The issue, of course, arises around the third condition, and the third condition, in my submission, clearly arose from the proposal to redeem Union's preferred shares which, in turn, was necessitated by the plan to convert Union into a Nova Scotia limited liability company.


This was all explained in detail in the evidence in the original application.  It is covered and explained in the Board's decision, and it is also covered in my factum.  And there is, I believe, no controversy about this, and indeed no room for controversy.


When the third condition talks about rates being reduced, quote, "to reflect the cost reduction of $1.3 million resulting from this reorganization", it is referring to the fact that Union had proposed to replace $110 million of preferred shares, which it proposed to redeem, with debt and at prevailing interest rates, in combination with the deductibility of interest, et cetera, a redemption of the preferred shares.  And the replacement of that amount with debt was forecast to result in a reduction to Union's cost of capital of approximately $1.3 million per year.


The basis of the motion, quite simply, is the premise which underlay the third condition that there would be a redemption of Union's preferred shares and, therefore, a reduction in Union's cost of capital, is no longer correct.


Westcoast has decided not to redeem Union's preferred shares and decided not to continue Union in Nova Scotia as an unlimited liability company.


As a result, there is going to be no cost reduction of $1.3 million to reflect in Union's 2009 rates, and it is on this basis that - that is, that the underlying rationale for the third condition is now gone - that we ask that the order be varied removing the third condition of the approval that was originally granted on November 19th, 2008.


Let me, then, with that introduction, address the circumstances by which this motion came about.


As I've said, the original reorganization proposal involved not only a proposal to transfer ownership of Union's shares, but also to continue Union in Nova Scotia as an unlimited liability company.


As the Board's original decision noted and the evidence, of course, provided this, as well, the change in potential shareholder liability that was attendant on that conversion required that Union's outstanding preferred shares be redeemed.


Westcoast and Union were proposing to exercise redemption rights that were available to Union under the terms of the preferred share issue effective January 1, 2009.


It's important to remember that Union does not have unrestricted rights to redeem its preferred shares.  In fact, with respect to the main series of preferred shares, which makes up over 100 million of the 110 million preferred shares outstanding, redemption rights are only available on January 1, 2009 and, after that, only on January 1 every five years thereafter.


In addition, the evidence was that there was a 30-day notice requirement, so that to exercise January 1, 2009 redemption rights, notice had to be given by December 1, 2008.


You see all of this -- this was all in the evidence, Mr. Chairman, but I have reproduced some excerpts starting at page 4 of the compendium.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, can I stop you there?


MR. PENNY:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  What's the reason that your client offered to change the transaction and proceed in a different way to obtain some, but perhaps not all, of the tax benefits?


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  Well, that is described in Mr. Kitchen's letter to the Board, which I will just flip up.


MR. KAISER:  Is it the changing worldwide credit crunch?


MR. PENNY:  That's exactly it, Mr. Chairman.  Essentially what it boils down to is that the -- let me just find that first, because it will be a useful starting point.  If you just bear with me for a second, I will find it.  It's in my compendium.


I was going to get to that in a minute.  Oh, sorry.  Let me see if I can find it.  Oh, it's page 57, I believe.  Yes.


I will give some more explanation for this in a moment, but if you look at page 57, this was the letter from Union, on behalf of Union and Westcoast, to the Board, and it says at the first full paragraph:

"The purpose of this letter is to advise the Board that pursuant to its November 19th, 2008 decision and order, Spectra is intending to proceed with the transfer of 100 percent of the voting shares of Union to a limited partnership organized under the laws of Ontario.  However, as the Board is aware, world economic conditions have changed dramatically since the application was filed.  In particular, significant changes have taken place in both the debt and equity markets in North America even within the last two weeks, to the point where Spectra has determined not to redeem the outstanding preferred shares or to proceed with the conversion to a ULC."


Then if you drop down to the second-last paragraph, it just repeats that, says:

"With respect to the third condition, since Spectra is not proceeding with the redemption, the revenue requirement reduction of $1.3 million will not materialize."


And Mr. Chairman, essentially you will recall that the evidence was that there was this potential for $50 million of tax-loss carry-forwards that were associated with a premium paid on the acquisition by, originally, Duke of Westcoast back in 2002.


And the Nova Scotia unlimited liability conversion was to -- intended to turn Union into what's called, under U.S. tax law, flow-through entity, which would have given the potential for Spectra to have access to those, by virtue of Union being a flow-through entity, to have access to those tax-loss carry-forwards.


And the decision essentially boiled -- and as you know -- I was just reading the Financial Times on the weekend, and basically every second article was about the debt crisis and how companies are preserving their cash.


There was -- as a result of the debt crisis, there is a decision as to whether or not to take the step to seek access over -- you will recall the evidence was it would be over a long period of time, ten to 15 years I think, Mr. Hebert said -- or whether to preserve the cash they had in the face of this debt crisis, because people today are not giving back $110 million if they don't have to.  Cash is king under the --


MR. KAISER:  If I remember the evidence, you already had the money.  You had gone to the market, and you had -- because I think one of the intervenors asked your witnesses if -- I think it was Mr. Shepherd -- if you were going to issue some bonds, or how you were going to raise the money to redeem the preferred shares, and the evidence essentially was, Well, we have it.  We did a bond issue three or four months before.  We got the money in the bank.


So now you say, Okay.  We got the money in the bank, but it's better to leave it in the bank, because we may need it, as opposed to use it to buy these preferred shares back.


MR. PENNY:  Well, that's actually --


MR. KAISER:  Is that essentially it?


MR. PENNY:  That's essentially it, although I am not sure it was so clear that the debt issue was directly related.  I mean, it was -- because remember, debt issues are lumped --


MR. KAISER:  I think the issue was they didn't have to go to the market to get the money.  They had previously raised money, and there was sufficient in the proceeds.


MR. PENNY:  Debt issues are lumpy, was the only point I was going to make.


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. PENNY:  So you don't necessarily match these things up perfectly.


MR. KAISER:  No.


MR. PENNY:  But the concept was that, if all things worked out the way they thought, that that would have covered it, although Mr. Packer did say that that's, you know, based on what we know today, but it could be different.  But essentially, you're right.


I mean, the point is that they decided it's better -- which I think is what everybody is doing now -- it is better to keep the money, because you are probably going to need it --


MR. KAISER:  Right.  Now, the other question --


MR. PENNY:  -- and the future debt issues will be even more difficult.  So we'll want to -- we'll want to -- you need to balance off those two things.


MR. KAISER:  And the other question I had is, with respect to the tax savings, we know what they were in the original application, more or less.  On the revised transaction, if I could call it that --


MR. PENNY:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  -- am I reading this right that you got some tax savings, but perhaps not as much as you would under the original proposal?


MR. PENNY:  That's it.  That's essentially it.


MR. KAISER:  What was it?  Can you give me the numbers?


MR. PENNY:  There were two -- I -- well, on the one I can't, because it's not determinable until things actually happen.  But let me explain it this way.


There were two aspects to the tax savings.  One was the ability to time the realization of the dividends against other Westcoast activities in Canada --


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. PENNY:  -- and hopefully to match the timing of positive dividends from Union --


MR. KAISER:  And that should be able to maintain you in the new proposal.


MR. PENNY:  And that we can -- that we can do under the limited partnership structure.


MR. KAISER:  You are just going to loss the loss carry-forward --


MR. PENNY:  The loss carry-forward is what -- yeah, until --


MR. KAISER:  -- part until 2002.


MR. PENNY:  Yes, that's it.  That's it.


MR. KAISER:  And what does that cost you?


MR. PENNY:  Well, the evidence was that the total -- that total benefit was potentially $50 million.


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. PENNY:  It was to be -- but it's only realizable in small pieces --


MR. KAISER:  Yes, of course.


MR. PENNY:  -- and was going to take place over, I think Mr. Hebert said ten to 15 years.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Well, what was the loss of the loss carry-forwards under the revised transaction?  What's that cost you?  Or does it?  Are they still there to --


MR. PENNY:  Well, they're -- no, sorry, sorry.  They're still there.  It is just deferred -- we can't now take steps to realize that until 2014, because there is a -- the terms of these pref share issue was that it's -- you know, first chance 2009, and then thereafter only five years -- at five-year increments.  So it sits there, but we don't have access to it.


MR. KAISER:  And to get the benefit of loss carry-forwards, which are sitting there, you have to redeem the preference shares?


MR. PENNY:  Well, because we need to convert Union into a Nova Scotia unlimited --


MR. KAISER:  And that's the only way you can get the loss carry-forwards?


MR. PENNY:  That's exactly it.


MR. KAISER:  So that is there to be dealt with in 2014?


MR. PENNY:  Possibly.


MR. KAISER:  Possibly?


MR. PENNY:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.  Now, I just wanted to make the point that -- perhaps we're ad idem on this, but if you turn to page 4 of the compendium, this, I think, touches on -- perhaps on the question you just asked, and then the point that I was making.


So paragraph 13, this was the original evidence filed on the application:

"For Canadian tax purposes, the ULC is the same as any other business corporation and is subject to tax on all of its taxable income.  For U.S. tax purposes, however, a ULC is classified as a flow-through entity and is therefore treated like a partnership or disregarded entity.  This enables the parent company of a ULC to consolidate the ULC's income or loss for U.S. tax purposes with its own."


So that is the point that we were just discussing, Mr. Chairman.  That is the ability to have access to the tax-loss carry-forwards.


And then paragraph 15 says that:

"Union currently has approximately 110 million of preferred shares held by unrelated parties.  Because the conversion of Union to a ULC has the potential on a wind-up to expose preferred shareholders to unlimited liability, the preferred shares will be redeemed and replaced with an equivalent amount of unrelated third-party debt.  Under the terms of one of the series of the preferred shares..."


And that's the large one.  That accounts for, as I said, 100 million of the 110 million:

"...Union has a redemption option only once every five years.  The next redemption option date is January 1, 2009.  Notice of a proposed redemption must be given approximately 30 days prior to the redemption date."


And so I note this only to emphasize that December 1 was a kind of drop-dead date from the point of view of redeeming the pref shares, since if notice was not given by then there could be no redemption January 1, 2009 and, indeed, no redemption at all again until January 1, 2014.


And the decision, as Mr. -- as Union indicated in the December 1 letter we were just referring to, was not to proceed with the redemption and not to proceed with the Nova Scotia conversion to the ULC.  So on December 1 Union notified the Board that Spectra and Westcoast had decided not to proceed with the preferred share redemption.


And as the Board knows, this engendered a series of submissions back and forth in correspondence which resulted in the Board's direction that the appropriate resolution of this issue was via a motion to vary, which of course is what brings us here today.


But the central fact of the motion and the central fact giving rise to the changed circumstances that we rely on was expressed succinctly at paragraph 13 of the notice of motion.  And perhaps I could just refer to that.  It is at page 65 of the compendium, paragraph 13.  And this is Union's notice of motion to vary the decision.  And paragraph 13 says:

"As a result of Spectra and Westcoast's decision not to redeem Union's preference shares and not to proceed with the conversion of Union to an NSULC, notice to the preferred shareholders was not given.  Accordingly, Union's preference shares were not redeemed on January 1, 2009 and cannot be redeemed again until January 1, 2014."


So that obviously was not the plan when the application was filed and when the hearing took place.  So the decision not to redeem the preferred shares represents a material change in circumstances on the central fact, in my submission, that underpinned the Board's decision to attach the third condition to its approval to transfer the shares in the first place.


And again, that's because the entire discussion of the $1.3 million cost reduction was premised on the proposal to redeem the 110 million of Union's outstanding preferred shares.


And that's clear as well from the language of the third condition itself that the Board imposed, and that was that -- that there was to be a rate reduction "to reflect the cost reduction of $1.3 million per year resulting from this reorganization".


And the only aspect -- and again, I don't believe this is controversial, Mr. Chairman.  The only aspect of "this reorganization" that produced a potential cost reduction of 1.3 million was the redemption of Union's preferred shares.


And so because Union is no longer redeeming its preferred shares, there is no cost reduction resulting from the reorganization to reflect in Union's rates.  It's as simple as that.  The decision not to redeem Union's preferred shares arose after the Board's decision and so, accordingly, we say there's been a material change in circumstance and a new fact that has arisen after the release of the decision, and that is that because there will be no redemption, there won't be any cost reduction.  So it is simply for that reason that the applicants seek relief from the third condition.


Now, we have written submissions from Mr. Thompson and Mr. Ryder, so let me deal at least with the core of what they've said.


Mr. Thompson's submission and Mr. Ryder both focus on the introductory language of Rule 44, which requires that the moving party set out grounds that raise a question as to the correctness of the decision.


We have that reproduced at page 69 -- the rule, that is, reproduced at page 69 of the compendium.  You will see in 44.01(a) it says that you have to:

"...set out the grounds for the motion that raise a question as to the correctness of the decision, which grounds may include..."


And we rely on (ii) and (iii), change in circumstances, new facts that have arisen.


But Mr. Thompson says, Well, the applicant's motion and the submissions don't raise any question as to the correctness of the decision, nor does he say that you allege any, because -- I take the burden of his submission to be because we're not attacking the original Board decision.  We're not pointing to something in the original decision that's wrong, but, in my submission, this argument is just incorrect, because it proceeds from a profound misunderstanding or misinterpretation of the meaning of this rule.


Indeed, Mr. Thompson's argument would require a nonsensical interpretation of Rule 44 that would reason deer subparagraphs (ii) and (iii) meaningless.


The reason I say that is that it is abundantly clear, from the applicant's notice of motion and from our written submission, that the basis for the motion is a change in circumstance and new facts that have arisen.


So the error, if you will, that we're concerned about doesn't arise from the original decision itself, based on the evidence at that time.  The whole point of including (ii) and (iii) as grounds for a motion to vary is to deal with facts that arise after the decision is made.


So the error is in the changed circumstance scenario or new fact scenario arises from the fact that under the new circumstances, the decision would be incorrect if it were not varied, or, with respect to new facts, that in light of the new facts, the decision would be wrong if not varied.  And that is precisely what the applicants say here.


In the original decision, on the assumption that Union's preferred shares were going to be redeemed and that this would result in a cost of capital reduction, there was a basis for the order that Union reduce its rates to reflect that cost reduction.


However, in light of the changed circumstances circumstance or new fact that there will be no redemption of preferred shares, Union's cost in relation to that amount of capital will not be reduced, and the pref shares will not be replaced with anything, because they're not being redeemed.  So there is no cost reduction to reflect.


And so we say, under that changed circumstance or in light of that new fact, there is now no basis to require a reduction of Union's rates of $1.3 million.


So the basis of a motion under Rule 44(ii) or (iii) is not, and frankly will never be, that the original decision contained an error.  It is, rather, in light of the new fact or changed circumstance, the decision would not be correct if left unchanged.


So Mr. Thompson, in my submission, is incorrect when he says that we neither raise nor even allege a question of correctness.  We do raise grounds for incorrectness, but the incorrectness, if you will, is in looking at the third condition in light of the changed circumstances or new facts.  And that's the way it has to be, because, otherwise, no change in circumstance or no new fact that arose after the decision was made would ever qualify as a, quote -- to quote, "raise a question as to the correctness of the decision."


So we say, under the changed circumstances or new facts ground of review, the question of correctness will never lie in the original decision.  It necessarily arises only when viewing the decision in light of the changed circumstances, which is the case here.


And so we say, given that the third condition was 100 percent premised on the assumption that Union would redeem its preferred shares and achieve a small cost reduction, and given that Union has, in fact, not redeemed its preferred shares, that the underlying justification for the third condition is gone, and it would be incorrect now, in light of the changed circumstances, to require Union to proceed with it.


Now, Mr. Thompson also argues that the change in circumstance and the new facts result from management decisions, he says, taken by Union's owners and that this somehow vitiates the effect of the change.


But, in my respectful submission, the fact that management chose, in the face of a crisis in the capital markets, not to proceed with the conversion to the Nova Scotia company and not to proceed with the related preferred shares is completely irrelevant, completely irrelevant to the issue at hand.


As I said at the outset, this was not a rate case.  This was an application to the Board for leave, for leave to conduct a transaction.  The whole application, in a sense, arose from a management decision, and Union and Westcoast were not obliged to bring that application.


The Board had no power to require Westcoast to transfer its shares to Union -- in Union to a new limited partnership.  Customers had no right to the reorganization that was being proposed.  They have no right to have Union's shares held by a limited partnership, and customers have no right to have Union continue in Nova Scotia as a limited liability company.


These are all management prerogatives, in my submission, and the fact that it was management's decision not to redeem Union's preferred shares, therefore, is completely irrelevant to the question of whether there has been a change in circumstances that warrant a variation to the third condition in this case.


Rule 44 does not rule out changes in circumstances that are due to management decisions, nor could it, given that many matters that come before the Board, like this one, involve matters which are inherently or by definition, such as mergers and acquisitions activity under section 43, issues which are entirely within the prerogative of management to bring forward when they choose, and where the Board's role is not setting just and reasonable rates on a rate application, but simply to grant leave or to refuse it based on the no-harm principle, which I am going to get to in a minute.


On Mr. Thompson's logic, Union's shareholder could decide not to proceed with any aspect of the transaction at all, such that there would be absolutely no change in the status quo, but the argument would say, Well, there must still be a reduction in rates of 1.3 million, because that was imposed as a condition of the transfer.


And that, of course, completely misconstrues the nature of the Board's power to grant leave under section 43.  While it's clear, and I accept, that the Board has the power to impose conditions on granting leave, those conditions must serve the granting of the leave.


In other words, as the Supreme Court said in the ATCO case, there is no -- or even in traditional cases like Roncarelli and Duplessis, there is no unlimited discretion.  The discretion has to be exercised in the context of the statutory powers that are granted.


So on the leave application, a condition must serve the purposes of the granting of the leave.  They obviously must relate to the question of avoiding harm, if the transaction proceeds.


In my submission, this suggestion that because it is a management decision it doesn't qualify, stands that relationship on its head, and it seeks to make the condition the master and the granting of the leave the servant; in other words, to give the condition some kind of independent free-standing existence.


That's not how the legislation works.  It's not how section 44 works, in my submission.  Granting leave does not constitute an order that the transaction must proceed.  It's the granting of leave.  And if there is no transaction, in my submission, there would be no basis for enforcing the condition.


A proper question, in my submission, therefore, is not whether the change in circumstance results from a management decision in the circumstances of this case.  The proper question is the same question that arose in the original application:  Does a transfer of Union's voting shares to a limited partnership wholly owned by Westcoast cause any harm to ratepayers?


And where -- and I suppose the twist now is, and the additional question that you would ask is where the second aspect of the proposed transaction, that was the conversion to the Nova Scotia company and the related redemption of preferred shares, is no longer a feature of the transaction.


And that question is addressed squarely starting at paragraph 24 of our factum.  I want to make reference to that.  So we say there that section 2 -- our starting place on the analysis is -- what we say is the proper analysis is section 2 of the Board's objectives, because that, we say, informs the discretion that the Board should exercise when granting leave under section 43 of the Act, and that is, of course, what underpins the Board's powers on this motion, as well.


The relevant objectives we quote at paragraph 27 of our factum, they're also reproduced at page 70 of the compendium.  But the two relevant provisions are, in my submission, Subsection 2 of Section 2 of the Act, which says:

"To protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the reliability and quality of gas service."


And Section 5.1:

"To facilitate the maintenance of a financially viable gas industry for the transmission, distribution, and storage of gas."


And so in my submission, in considering the question of when to grant leave for change of control, the Board has adopted the no-harm test.  And under the no-harm test, it is not necessary, the Board was clear, for leave to be granted to show that the transaction is the best transaction from a customer point of view or even that the result from a customer point of view will be better than the status quo.  


The Board has endorsed a no-harm test as the appropriate test, on the basis that the Board's mandate in considering whether to grant leave for the transfer of share ownership is to consider whether the transaction will have an adverse effect relative to the status quo.


Put another way, the Board has concluded that protecting the interests of consumers is tantamount to ensuring that there is no harm to customers.  And that 

is -- 


MR. KAISER:  Can I stop you there, Mr. Penny?  


MR. PENNY:  Yes, absolutely. 


MR. KAISER:  The one concern I have here -- and I want to give you a chance to address it -- is, there is no question in the original decision the Board found there was no harm, and approved the transaction, subject to three conditions.  In fact, the evidence was clear there was a benefit to ratepayers, about 1.3 million a year.


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  


MR. KAISER:  Under the revised transaction, that benefit has disappeared.  


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  


MR. KAISER:  Does that -- now, I understand what you say, that you look at -- you don't care how the transaction is done, as long as there's no harm.  But here we've got two transactions, two ways of doing it --


MR. PENNY:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  -- and one has a benefit -- 


MR. PENNY:  Yes. 


MR. KAISER:  -- to the ratepayers --


MR. PENNY:  Yes. 


MR. KAISER:  -- and the second one does not. 


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  


MR. KAISER:  Can we consider that?  


MR. PENNY:  Well, I think what I'm saying, Mr. Chairman, is, at the end of the day, no.  I mean, what -- you know, I was just about to turn to the case that the -- it was the -- that joint case that was heard on amalgamations and mergers in the electricity context.


And as I understand it, the test that's articulated there is that, yeah, there might be some other deals out there that -- and maybe some of them would be better for the customer, but at the end of the day -- and, you know, and maybe those would be better.  But at the end of the day the Board's role is to ensure that there is no harm.  


So it's not the best deal.  It's not that it has to improve the status quo.  It just has to not be worse than the status quo.


And in my submission, while it is true that with the conversion to the Nova Scotia unlimited liability company there was a -- going to be a reduction in cost, at least thought to be, anyway, a reduction in the cost -- small reduction in the cost of debt as a result of the redemption, that isn't a feature, of course, of the revised transaction, but that's not dispositive at the end of the day of the application.  


You also have to consider that this decision not to proceed was, in a sense, intended to be -- when you think about it, is in the best -- in Union's best interests, because it puts Union in a better position to weather the storm, if you will, of the debt crisis.  


So it's not that there is no benefit, but -- it's not tangible the way a million-three is, but one has to presume that the discretion of management was exercised with a view to the best interests of the company.  And there is no reason to think that it wasn't, in the current circumstances.


  So customers, in fact, may get some benefit and probably will get some benefit from the fact that Union has this additional $110 million buffer, if you will, against the crisis in the financial markets, which will help it to weather the outcome until we're back more on an even keel.  


So I guess my answer is two parts:  One, that it's not necessary to show that there was a benefit.  And as I said earlier, Mr. Chairman, it's not as if there was an obligation to proceed with that.


Another way of looking at it would be to say, Well, what if we just dropped this entirely?  I mean, my friends, one of their arguments in our exchange of correspondence earlier was, Well, make them bring a new application.  And we said, Well, we could do that, but it doesn't really make any sense, because all the evidence will be the same, except that we won't have this other aspect of the transaction.


But you could look at that on a stand-alone basis and say, Okay.  Now there's no -- we now have an application before us.  There's no Nova Scotia conversion.  There is no redemption of pref shares.  They're just not on the table any more at all.


It's a new application.  It says Westcoast wants to transfer its shares in Union to a limited liability partnership.  It provides some benefits to the parent, in terms of the timing of the realization of the dividends, but -- and has no adverse impact on customers.


Well, there's, in my submission, no reason not to grant that approval.  It benefits the owner.  It makes Ontario a more attractive place to invest in, and doesn't have any adverse impact for the customers, relative to the status quo, at all.  


Now, I am sure, Mr. Chairman, that you are familiar with that decision that I referred to earlier, since you wrote it, so I won't take your time to repeat those words, but it's reproduced at pages -- well, perhaps I will, because it's -- I think it is an important point.  


If you would turn to page 73 and 74 of the compendium, Mr. Chairman.  Starting at the last paragraph on the page, it says:

"The Board believes that the 'no harm' test is the appropriate test.  It provides greater certainty and, most importantly, in the context of share acquisition and amalgamation applications it is the test that best lends itself to the objectives of the Board, as set out in Section 1 of the Act.  The Board is of the view that its mandate in these matters is to consider whether the transaction that has been placed before it will have an adverse effect relative to the status quo in terms of the Board's statutory objectives.  It is not to determine whether another transaction, whether real or potential, can have a more positive effect than the one that has been negotiated to completion by the parties.  In that sense, in Section 86 applications of this nature, the Board..."


And that is, of course, the equivalent of Section 43 on the electricity side:

"...the Board equates 'protecting the interests of consumers' with ensuring that there is 'no harm to consumers'."


And so, as you have noted, Mr. Chairman, the evidence was clear and remains clear and unambiguous, in my submission, and it was already accepted by the Board in the decision that the transfer of Union's voting shares to a limited partnership, wholly owned by Westcoast, will have no adverse impact on Union or its customers.


And as I've said -- and this was in our original evidence and in my original argument -- where the Energy Board can accomplish something that's beneficial to an investor whose invested over a billion dollars in Ontario at no harm to the customer, it seems to be in the public interest to do so.  


Now, the question, I suppose, that remains, as I alluded to earlier is, does the fact that the Nova Scotia conversion and the related pref share redemption are no longer features of the proposed reorganization change the analysis.  And in my submission, in my submission, it does not, and that is because the absence of the preferred share redemption and the conversion of Union to the Nova Scotia company will have no adverse impact on Union or its customers.  


And while the benefits to Spectra, for U.S. tax purposes, are not as great as they would have been with the Nova Scotia conversion, there is nevertheless a benefit resulting from the use of the limited partnership structure, which we discussed earlier and which is described in paragraphs 21 to 25 of our factum.


The reasons advanced by the applicants for approval of the transaction -- or, sorry, of the transfer of Union's shares are -- and, frankly, the reason for the Board's approval of that transfer are equally applicable, in my submission, in the absence of the conversion to the NSULC and related pref share redemption.  What has changed is the basis for the imposition of the third condition.  


So in summary then on this point, there's been a clear change in circumstance, and new facts have arisen since the decision was made.  The Board -- or Union has not redeemed its pref shares, as originally contemplated, has no opportunity to do so again until 2014.  And in the absence of the preferred share redemption, there's no cost reduction to reflect in Union's 2009 rates. 


And so we say, with respect, the basis for the third condition is gone, and it's on that basis that we ask the Board to vary the decision by eliminating the third condition.  


Now, we also see -- and let me just address this very briefly, Mr. Chairman -- in the written submissions of Mr. Ryder in particular, also an allegation of bad faith against Union and its owner, because he says that the debt crisis is not the reason behind the decision to redeem the pref shares, and, in my submission, there's absolutely no evidence to support that allegation.


Where I come from, at least, when you call somebody a liar, you have to have more than just rank speculation to back that up, or, let me put this in legal terms.  If you're going to make an allegation of bad faith, you better have some really good evidence to back that up.


There's an assumption in Mr. Ryder's argument, which is completely unsupported by any evidence, of bad faith, which -- well, let me say, first of all, Mr. Chairman, it doesn't matter, I say with respect, why Union is not redeeming its preference shares.  The only relevant issue is whether the cost reduction will take place.  Why it will not take place, in my submission, is irrelevant.  


But even if you examine the "why" question, the reason for the decision not to redeem the preferred shares was stated in Union's letter of December 1 and is very clear.  We looked at it earlier and discussed that earlier.


There's no contrary evidence, and I go further and say not only is there no contrary evidence, but the evidence and, indeed, common sense supports the explanation that Union has given.


Mr. Thompson himself at the hearing elicited evidence that the $1.3 million cost reduction was not driving the reorganization or any aspect of it.  That was -- that has been reproduced at page 17 of the compendium, where the question was:

"The conversion of pref to debt will reduce cost of service by about 1.3 million commencing in 2009; is that right?"


Mr. Hebert says, "That's correct."


Then Mr. Thompson: 

"I think this is Exhibit B2 where we see that number; is that correct?"

"We have it, yes."  

"Can I take it, though, that that is sort of an incidental impact of this?  That's not driving the application?"

Mr. Hebert:  "That's correct."


So the evidence is very clear that the 1.3 -- and I think you will recall this, Mr. Chairman.  The criticism of Union wasn't that there was advertent wrongdoing, as I read your decision.  The criticism was that the -- the 1.3 was below Union's radar screen as being material, and the Board was saying, No, no, no.  That was material and it ought to have been disclosed.  But I didn't read the Board's decision as penalizing Union for advertent wrongdoing.


But, in any event, as I said earlier, you can't have read any financial news in the last two months without knowing that we're in the midst of probably the biggest debt crisis that the world has ever seen.  So it's not surprising, in my submission, that faced with the choice between potential tax savings spread over a long period of time and giving back 110 million of cash when you don't have to, the company chose to hang on to its cash to help weather the current financial storm.


So first, in my submission, it doesn't matter why Union is not redeeming the pref shares.  What matters is whether it is redeeming the pref shares and whether there is a cost reduction.  It is, of course, plain for the reasons I have outlined that that reduction is not going to take place.


So Mr. Ryder's argument is, in my submission, based on the worst sort of speculation and is inconsistent with commonsense and should, therefore, be rejected.


MR. KAISER:  His argument, as I understand it, is that here's what happened -- I take it we have yet to hear any evidence, but he says, Here's what happened.  These guys looked at this decision and they didn't like the 1.3 deduction they were going to have to take each year for the next five years, so they said, We can restructure this thing, you know.  We don't need to proceed with the Nova Scotia part at this time.  It will still be available later, 2014, and we can capture the lost carry-forwards from the Duke purchase then.  So let's just proceed with the first part now, and that way we will save ourselves 6-1/2 million, which we would have lost on the current decision, and we will get it later.  


That is sort of his speculation, and you quite properly say that these guys are coming back and they're trying to restructure the transaction to avoid the result of the initial decision.


Your position, and we will hear from Mr. Ryder, but is that there is no evidence whatsoever that that is the case.


MR. PENNY:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  The only evidence that you are offering, at least by way of letter, which nobody doubts, I guess, is that the international debt markets have rapidly deteriorated since this transaction was first structured.


So even if that theory sounded attractive, if you were wanting to be a suspicious person, there is no evidence whatsoever that that's a reason for restructuring --


MR. PENNY:  That's correct.  As I said, Mr. Chairman, it goes further than that.  It is actually inconsistent with the evidence, because the evidence was that the 1.3 wasn't driving the transaction, and that is true.  


I mean, think about it this way.  Why would -- why would Union's owners give up the chance to start tapping into that 50 million of tax-loss carry-forwards for the sake of --


MR. KAISER:  Because they didn't want to take the 6.5 hit.


MR. PENNY:  Well, but the benefits are disproportionate, it seems to me.


MR. KAISER:  That's why I asked you at the outset:  What is the trade-off?  I mean, the benefit of the tax-loss carry-forwards is still there, as you have said this morning, to be recovered possibly in 2014.


MR. PENNY:  Possibly, yes.


MR. KAISER:  You haven't lost it.  You have parked it.


MR. PENNY:  We hope not.


MR. KAISER:  You hope not.  So what are they worth relative to 6.5 million?


MR. PENNY:  Well, I don't know that there's -- I don't think I can help you on that.  I don't think I can help you on that.  I mean, all we know is that 50 million was, I think Mr. Hebert said, spread over some ten to 15 years, so it looks to me like about 5 million -- something in the order of 3 to 5 million a year.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  I just wanted to close, Mr. Chairman, because I think you know or you understand our point.  Let me just close with Mr. Shepherd's letter, which was received this morning.  I don't know if you saw that.


MR. KAISER:  I did see it, but I don't think we marked it, did we?  Did we mark Mr. Shepherd's letter?


MS. COCHRANE:  We have not.  We will make that Exhibit 1.2, a letter from Jay Shepherd dated February 2, 2009.


MR. KAISER:  I take it you have no objection to us putting this in the record?


MR. PENNY:  No, I don't.

Exhibit No. K1.2:  Letter from Jay Shepherd dated February 2, 2009.


MR. PENNY:  What I wanted to say about it is, I mean, the bottom line of the letter is that he asks, if the Board is inclined to grant the relief that Union is seeking, that there be a further condition, in effect, in replacement of condition 3, that if Union were to proceed with a pref share redemption during the incentive regulation term, that it would notify the Board.


I don't want to get into a quarrel with Mr. Shepherd about the lead-up to this request, but I will say that Mr. Shepherd does say, in the letter, that Union was not in a position to provide any assurances about that and, that I simply say, is not correct.


The fact is that Union cannot redeem the vast majority of the pref shares until 2014, so that effectively eliminates this Nova Scotia conversion option until 2014.


If, for some reason, Union were freed of this restraint that Mr. Shepherd is worried about and did propose to proceed with the Nova Scotia conversion and the redemption of the pref shares during the IR term, Union would certainly notify the Board of that intention.  I mean, it would only be --


MR. KAISER:  Prior to the transaction?


MR. PENNY:  Prior to the transaction, absolutely.  There is no question about that, Mr. Chairman.  I think that we would have done that in any event, but if someone wants that as an assurance, we're certainly in a position to give that.  So that is all I have to say on the point.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ryder, would it be convenient to take the morning break for 15 minutes?


--- Recess taken at 10:22 a.m.  


--- Upon resuming at 10:40 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Ryder?

Submissions by Mr. Ryder:


MR. RYDER:  Thank you, sir.


I submit that the underlying rationale for the third condition continues to exist.  The rationale for the correctness of the third condition continues to exist, and I submit that in order for Union to say otherwise, what it has done in its motion has been to ignore the facts and the conclusions reached by the Board that lead up to and explain and generally underpin the third condition, which Union seeks to eliminate.  


So it may be useful at the outset to summarize the findings of the Board which have not been challenged in any respect in Union's motion.  And I have set them out beginning at paragraph 4 of my factum, starting with the fact that on May 7th Union applied for a five-year incentive regulation plan to be set, to set rates starting in January 1, 2008.


And secondly, that shortly after that, Max Hebert, the tax-planning specialist with Union, delivered to Spectra a five-page memorandum called "UGL Conversion Step Plans".


So thirdly, the reorganization and the incentive regulation case were running in parallel.  And fourthly, a component of the reorganization plan was the redemption of Union's preferred shares and with the replacement of the shares with debt, leading to a reduction of -- in the cost of capital of 1.3 million annually, beginning in 2009.  


And then at page 10 of the decision of the Board, the Board found that the reorganization was dependent on the redemption of the preferred shares, and that is a finding which Union hasn't challenged.  But I say whether it is challenged now or not doesn't really matter, because the fact is that the redemption was a component of the transaction which Union placed before the Board in the original application.  


Also, there is the fact that, as found by the Board at the bottom of page 10 of the decision, in August 2007 there was a real prospect that Union would be reorganizing to secure the $50 million in tax savings with Spectra, and also there was a real prospect that that reorganization would include a redemption of the preferred shares and a cost reduction of 1.3 million annually.  


Next, the Board also found that the $1.3 million of cost reductions was a material amount, and then it goes on to find that Union had an obligation to disclose it.  


And at page 11 of the decision, the Board observed that Union should err on the side of disclosure when in doubt on subject matters like these.


And then as page 12, the second-last paragraph of your decision, the Board stated:

"There is also an element of fairness involved here.  How can the Board penalize intervenors and the ratepayers they represent because they were late raising an issue where the utility failed to advise them of essential information in a timely fashion?"  


Now, I read that statement, along with everything else that is said between pages 10, 11, and 12, as a finding or a conclusion that Union had an obligation to disclose in the incentive regulation case, and it failed to live up to that obligation to disclose.  


And what it should have disclosed was the very real possibility of a cost reduction that would have occurred during the incentive regulation case.  And had that been done, then the parties would have had an opportunity to address it in the incentive regulation case.


And where costs are reduced by 1.3 million annually as of January 1, 2009, I submit that as a very strong likelihood the base rates would have been set to reflect that.  That is a likely, distinctly possible result that would have occurred but for Union's failure on its obligation to disclose.  


So the Board's decision to impose a third condition, in substance, places Union and its customers in the same position they would have been in but for Union's failure.  And that is the classic remedy for a breach of an obligation.  So given that, I submit that the third condition cannot be characterized as incorrect.


Now, let me turn to the rule which governs Union's motion to delete the third condition, and that, of course, is Rule 44.


To allow a motion under Rule 44, the Board, I submit, must be satisfied that the third condition is not correct.  And as I have argued, a condition that places Union and its customers in the same position it would have been in but for Union's failure can't be characterized as incorrect.  


Now, even though Union has now eliminated the cost reduction, the failure to disclose it in 2007 still occurred.  So the third condition is still necessary to place the parties into the position they would have been in but for Union's failure to disclose in 2007.


So I submit that, given the fact that the third condition remains correct, the incentive requirement of Rule 44 is lacking, and the motion should be dismissed on that ground.  


Now, secondly, let me turn to the new fact and change in circumstances which Union relies on.  The key point here is that the new fact and the change of circumstances don't at all challenge or cast doubt on the validity of the Board's findings of fact and its conclusions that Union breached its duty to disclose, which underpin the third condition.  


So as I say, even though Union has now eliminated the cost reduction, the failure to disclose still occurred and is necessary if the parties are to be put into the position they would have been in had that disclosure occurred as it ought to have done.  


So I submit, secondly, that the new fact and change in circumstances which Union now advances don't raise any question as to the correctness of the third condition, and for that ground the motion should be dismissed.  


Now, my final submission is that the new fact and the change in circumstances that Union now advances arise only out of a change in Union's own application.  So in effect what Union has done, it's made an application in September 2008, and that application involved a redemption of preferred.  


They received the Board's decision in November 2008, which contained the third condition, and clearly the third condition was an unwanted result, because they have now brought a motion to eliminate it.  


So then what Union does, it recasts its application and it drops the redemption and it drops the cost reduction, and then requests that the third condition be deleted.


So here one can see that the new facts are not external to Union.  They're not occurrences imposed by outside world events.  Rather, Union created these new facts and change of circumstances itself when it recast its application.


Now, I submit that Rule 44 was never intended to allow a company to apply, obtain a decision, and then, after examining the decision, be allowed to recast its application to create a new fact and, in that way, seek to avoid a decision or a portion of the decision which it doesn't want.


And if that were allowed, if Union's motion here is allowed, I say that would mean that one would never know, when Union makes an application, if it is simply testing the waters, see the Board's reaction and, if it doesn't like the decision, then it will be open to it to recast the application; thereby create a new fact and change in circumstances and try again.


I submit that Rule 44 was not intended to be a vehicle for self-generated changes in circumstances that would allow it to escape the consequences of the decision on the first application.


Now, I say it doesn't matter if this -- the elimination of the third condition was a motivating factor in the Board's second application.  You know, one can never know, but I say it is a use of the Board's rules which ought not to be countenanced.


Success here for Union would also mean that Union has evaded the finding that occupies most of the decision that Union had failed in its duty to disclose, and I submit the regulatory system would be prejudiced if utilities can evade that obligation by the tactic of creating a new application, and thereby creating a new set of circumstances.


Now, this argument that I have just made is found at paragraphs 16 and 18 -- to 18 in my factum.  They don't allege, as Mr. Penny says, bad faith.  That inflammatory word comes solely from Mr. Penny, as I submit it, as a form of overkill.


What I do allege is a use of the rule which is contrary to the public interest, and I say it is contrary to the public interest to allow a utility to make an application, test the waters and, if it doesn't like what it gets, then reapply on a different basis.


So in Mr. Penny's reply, I trust he will be more appropriately scrupulous when he makes allegations as he did.


Those are my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson.

Submissions by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Kaiser.


I have put on the dais, at the outset of the proceeding this morning, two documents.  One was a CME compendium of documents, and the second was an excerpt from the transcript of November 7, 2008.  What the excerpt contains is Mr. Penny's reply submissions.


MS. COCHRANE:  We will make those Exhibits K1.3, and that's CME's compendium of documents, And Exhibit K1.4 will be the excerpt from the transcript.

Exhibit No. K1.3:  CME's compendium of documents.

Exhibit No. K1.4:  Excerpt from November 7, 2008 transcript.


MR. KAISER:  We have Mr. Penny's compendium marked?


MS. COCHRANE:  Yes.  That was K1.1 -- or I think we just called it 1.1 at that point.  We weren't using the letter K, so we will just stay with that.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  I also provided a factum.  Mr. Chairman, I assume you have that in your materials?


MR. KAISER:  I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  It's a brief factum, three pages long. 


As is evident from the factum that we filed, my client supports and adopts the submissions of counsel for Kitchener.  The starting point in our factum and the starting point that I would like to use in these oral submissions is the Board's December 19, 2008 letter to Union, which you will find at tab 7 of my compendium.


We characterize this as a directives letter.  And Union, in its factum, paragraph 15, appears to acknowledge that they interpret it as a directives letter, as well.


My submission is that on a plain reading of that letter, the directives that the Board provided on page 2 in the last paragraph, which I reproduced in my factum in paragraph 3, do not authorize Union to, in effect, revisit its initial application based on circumstances that occurred after the initial decision was released and circumstances which were of their own making.  That's the reason that I characterize them as management decisions in my factum.


I was trying to make the point that these weren't external circumstances beyond the control of Union's owner.  These were circumstances taken by Union's -- these were actions taken by Union's owners in response to the decision.


So we submit that in the context of the correspondence that preceded the directives Letter, that the only reasonable interpretation to ascribe to the directives letter is that Union must comply with condition 3 of the November 19 decision and order unless it demonstrates, under Rules 42 and 44, that there is a reviewable error in the November 19, 2008 decision.


So that is the framework within which our factum is presented.


I would like to, with your permission, just review briefly some excerpts from the correspondence that preceded the directive letter to support the interpretation that we ascribe to the directive letter, and I do so in the context of the case that Union presented, pleaded and argued before you on November the 7th of 2008.


I submit there is no question that Union presented a plan for a three-step restructuring, one element of which was the redemption of preference shares on January 1, 2009.


Union did not present in evidence to you any optional restructuring plan which involved one step now and perhaps the other two steps later.  There was no evidence before you suggesting -- no evidence from Union or anybody else suggesting any other redemption date than January 1, 2009.


So when Mr. Penny now characterizes that date as a proposal or a potential date, in my submission, that wasn't the way it was presented to you in evidence.


Now, it is clear that the timing of the application and the need for a decision in November was driven by this planned January 1, 2009 redemption date.  So it wasn't a date about which there were any uncertainties, in my submission.


Market turmoil was a fact on November the 9th, and it was even discussed in the record in the context of Union's dividend practices.  There is a reference to it at page 22 of the transcript.  I don't have that in my excerpt.  But the impression that was left, I submit, by Union and its witnesses, what -- was, despite the market turmoil, we're proceeding with business as usual.


Now, also the case that Union presented contained an acknowledgment that the redemption would produce cost savings, and you see that at page 7 of your reasons.  That was the $1.3 million.


And the issue of timing, with respect to when these benefits -- these cost savings would be allocated to ratepayers, was again argued before you.  And you can see that at page 7 and 8 of your reasons.


And during the course of that debate, Union never raised the possibility that redemption would occur on a date other than January 1, 2009.  The position of Union -- and this is where the transcript comes into play.  This is Exhibit K1.4, at page 105.  This is Mr. Penny's reply submission, where he's in this debate about this condition that Mr. Shepherd proposed about passing through the $1.3 million to ratepayers.  Mr. Penny said at line 4 -- at lines 4 to 10:

"The only grounds upon which Union could properly be required to disgorge this million dollars would be, (A), if it were proved that there was wilful misconduct and non-disclosure in advance of the incentive regulation plan."


Just pausing there, i.e., the failure-to-disclose issue that was argued before you:

"Or, (B), if this was established to be a Z factor."


And so Union was, in essence, saying to you, We keep this money, because those suggesting otherwise can't make the non-disclosure case, and they can't bring this within the parameters of a Z factor.


And as Mr. Ryder has indicated, you found against Union on the non-disclosure case, and you allocated the reduction effective January 1, 2009, which was fully compatible with the evidence that was before you.


So that the condition, in my submission, based on the failure to disclose findings is not gone, as Mr. Penny suggests, and Mr. Ryder has made that point, and we support it.


Now, moving from there and asking the question, what happened after the release of the decision, as you pointed out to Mr. Penny, we don't have evidence from anyone from Spectra or Westcoast or Union as to what actually happened.


But there is, I submit, something that we can conclude from some of the correspondence as to what happened following the release of the decision.


And if you would turn to tab 4 of the correspondence.  This is Mr. Penny's letter, counsel for Union's response to the letters written by Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Ryder that appear at tabs 2 and 3.


And if you would go to page 2 of that letter, and down towards the bottom of the page you will see the way in which Union interpreted the condition.  So one thing they did following this decision was look at the wording of the condition.  And they say here:

"As Union reads condition 3, it is itself conditional on there being a cost reduction to Union of this amount.  Since there is to be no redemption, there will be no cost reduction to reflect in Union's 2009 and subsequent rates.  Accordingly, the pre-condition to the rate reduction is absent.  This, Union submits, is not a unilateral refusal to fulfil condition 3 in the Board's decision, nor in Union's reading of the decision is a motion for review and variance required.  This is because the condition itself contemplates its own pre-condition, a pre-condition which, because Union's preferred shares are not being redeemed, will not be met."


And so I submit that's some evidence of the rationale for the letter that Union sent on December 1, which you will find at tab 1 of the brief.


And so this is a letter.  It is written on December 1, 2008.  There had been no communications between Union and the Board between November the 19th and this date.  And this is Union's letter basically saying -- and these are my words -- We interpret this decision to give us an option to not proceed with the redemption, and we are not doing so.


Therefore -- and this is the second-last paragraph, with respect to the third condition:

"Since Spectra is not proceeding with the redemption of the preferred shares, the revenue requirement reduction will not materialize.  Accordingly, Union will not be reflecting any reduction in its delivery rates effective January 1, 2009."


And then the last paragraph:

"Thanks very much for the efforts you made on the hearing of this matter."


And so that letter, I submit, certainly one of the drivers was this interpretation they put on condition 3.


That prompted Mr. Shepherd's letter and Mr. Ryder's letter and then Mr. Penny's December 9 letter, and CME's letter is December the 12th.  And we thought that this -- these actions raised a question of principle with respect to compliance with Board orders, and we said so.


And I won't read the letter.  But in the course of that, we did question this notion that all of this was brought on by changes in the circumstance -- in financial markets since the application was filed, because when the witnesses testified, this was -- on November 7th -- it was a reality, and we refer, on the third-last paragraph on the second page, to the evidence as we understood it about the money having already been raised to redeem the preference shares.  And you mentioned that in your discussion with Mr. Penny this morning.


Mr. Penny responded to that, and his -- responded to our letter.  And his response is at tab 6.  And again, there is no evidence to support this notion that what they did was prompted by economic circumstances, as opposed to simply interpreting the order the way they decided to interpret it.


And Mr. Penny, at page 3 of this letter, one of the things he says is it is really not up to the Board, or anybody else, for that matter, to decide on the timing of share redemptions.  That's at page 3, in the first full paragraph, in the last -- in the last sentence.


And he's rejecting -- Union is rejecting the notion that there is any issue of compliance with Board orders that these circumstances raise.


And then in response to all of that we then get the directive, which, I submit, is quite specific.  Union's, in effect, saying, We don't need to comply with the third condition, because the circumstances expressed in there will not materialize.


And the Board then, in response -- the parties opposite are questioning, is -- does that raise a question of principle, and the Board's response is to direct Union -- and here I am reading the last paragraph in the directive letter:

"If Union will not fulfil the third condition of the decision, Union is required to make a request to the Board pursuant to Rule 42 of the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure to review and vary the decision.  In making its request to vary, Union should refer  SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1to review and vary the decision.  In making its request to vary, Union should refer to Rule 44 of the Board's rules and set out the grounds for the variance, including the change in circumstances and facts not previously in evidence in the proceeding."


So that's why we submit the framework for this motion is Rule 44 and 42.  And to bring yourself within that framework, in my submission, Union must demonstrate that there is a reviewable error in the November 19th decision.


I submit they have not done that.  There is no reviewable error in that decision.  It was perfectly compatible with the case that was pleaded and argued before you.  So on that ground, the decision and order stands.


That's why we say, in our factum:

"Absent a demonstration of reviewable error in the decision, Union fails to discharge the onus the Board imposed in its December 19 letter of directives."


Now, what Union really does, in my submission, it doesn't bring this motion, pursuant to Rule 42 and 44 as directed.  What it really says is, We want to revisit our initial application on the basis of a change of circumstances, which we have precipitated in response to the initial decision.


As Mr. Ryder points out, there is a circuity to that and a pull-yourself-up-by-your-own-bootstraps aspect to that that is not in the public interest.  But if you are going to go down that road and treat the motion in that fashion, that's something that -- in my view, I submit that is outside the ambit of 42 and 44, but if you do go down that road, then you have to consider the guiding principle to be applied, and that is the no-harm principle.  You have mentioned that in your discussions with Mr. Penny this morning.


I submit that if is to be considered, what you do have is two ways of doing something.  One - and there is nothing speculative about the one way of doing it, this was the way they presented it to you on the 19th - that produced a benefit to ratepayers.  Then the second way that they chose to do it, following release of the decision that allocated that benefit to ratepayers, eliminates that benefit.


So I submit it is open to you to find that that is a contravention of the no-harm principle.


MR. KAISER:  Can I just stop you there, Mr. Thompson?


Mr. Penny, of course, referred to the -- I guess it's called the joint MAADs decision in 2005.  That was -- there were three utilities that were applying under section 86.


The Board -- and he quoted this aspect of the decision at page 6, was to the effect that the Board is of the view that its mandate in these matters is to consider whether the transaction that has been placed before it will have an adverse effect relative to the status quo in terms of Board statutory objectives.  It's not to determine whether another transaction, whether real or potential, can have a more positive effect than the one that has been negotiated to completion by the parties.


Now, here, it's a little bit different, it seems to me, that there are two transactions that have been placed before the Board, not one.


In those cases, the utility came forward with one, and the intervenors said, No, they should have taken the deal from somebody over here.  It would have been better for us.


And the Board said, No, no, we're looking at the one that was negotiated.  We're applying the test to that one. 


Here we have two, the one they brought the first time, and now they're bringing a second one.


Are you saying that in those circumstances we can consider which of the transactions is best for the consumer?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I say you can consider that, and I guess the way I would phrase it is that the status quo -- if you treat this as, in effect, an application to revisit, then it's a new application, and the status quo is the initial application and the Board's order resulting from it.


So when you compare those two things, which are real, it's not speculative, which is the kind of situation that prevailed here, as I understand it.  Those two things are real.


I say you can consider both of them in an application of the no-harm principle.  Is that responsive to your question?


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.


So for one thing, I was struggling to find here - again, it goes back to this, our client's concern with compliance with Board orders - some sort of analogy.


One that came to mind and that may be a bit awkward, but it would be in a family law context, where you might have a scenario where some spouse says, Well, I'm anticipating some added responsibilities on January 1st and that will generate more income, and the court takes that into account in assessing -- making an order.


Then, when the spouse sees the order, says, To heck with it, I'm not taking the job or I'm not taking on those added responsibilities, and goes back and says, I want a reduction --


MR. KAISER:  What would happen --


MR. THOMPSON:  -- in the order.


MR. KAISER:  -- in the family court?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, they would be -- they would be, See you later, sir.  I'm assuming the paying spouse is a male.


You wouldn't be able to pull yourself up by your own bootstraps in that kind of scenario.  Now, as I say, it is an awkward analogy, but it's the only one I could come up with on short notice.


MR. KAISER:  But leaving that aside, were you suggesting earlier - I think you were - if we were really to treat this as a new application, the test would be different than if we considered it narrowly to be an application to vary the existing decision, or not?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I think that's what I'm saying.  I'm saying I construe this by directive.  You have to bring yourself within 42 and 44, or you are out of luck.


But I think Union, to be fair, is saying, Well, it's broader than that.  It's -- at least as I understand them, and they're saying, We can revisit the initial application based on changed circumstances that we have precipitated ourselves, and the no-harm principle applies.


I say, okay, if you go there, what's the comparator?  That's the point that I was trying to address.


MR. KAISER:  We have no evidence here, hard 

evidence -- no evidence before the Board under oath as to the reason, but we have the letters about world credit markets.


Do you think the reason is material?  If so, should we require evidence?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, again, in fairness to Union, they say the change in circumstances is the decision not to redeem.  That's what they say in their motion for review.


And absent any evidence explaining that action, I submit the only reasonable conclusion to draw is it was done in response -- that certainly was part of it -- in response to your initial order, and so that's the way it should be characterized, and no other -- no other unsubstantiated allegations --


MR. KAISER:  They say it had nothing to do with the order.  It had to do with changing world capital markets.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, they haven't proved that, but there is evidence to show that it was based on their parsing of this order and concluding, We cannot redeem and we don't have to pay the limited --


MR. KAISER:  Are you saying, Union, if you want to rely on the argument that this was not as a result of de facto we didn't like your earlier decision, we didn't like condition 3, but it had nothing to do with that, it had to do with changing capital markets, they have the obligation to call evidence.  They have the burden of proof?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, exactly what I'm saying.


For those reasons, I submit the motion should be dismissed.  And regardless of the order that you make, I am requesting that intervenors be awarded their costs in connection with this matter incurred since December 1, 2008, when all of this started as a result of Union's letter.  And I submit they should be payable, as in the initial order, by Union's shareholder.


Unless there are any other questions, those are my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


Do Board counsel have submissions?

Submissions by Ms. Cochrane:


MS. COCHRANE:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  Just a couple submissions, mainly concerning the proper interpretation of the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure.


I agree with the submissions of all parties that there is no reviewable error in the original decision issued by yourself.  I disagree with the submissions by some parties that, absent reviewable error in a decision, the Board should not review or vary its decisions, pursuant to Rule 44 of the Rules.


The purpose, in my respectful submission, of Rules 42 and 44 is to allow the Board to review its decisions and orders and, if appropriate, vary such decisions and orders in light of changes in circumstances or new facts, if the Panel finds that there has been such a change or new facts.


The language of Rule 44 sets out the context within which the Board considers whether its decision or order continues to be correct.  It is not a tenable interpretation, in my view, to say that the Board cannot review, unless it finds a prima facie reviewable error.


To take such an interpretation would say that there is no purpose to the language of the rule that talks about changes of circumstances or grounds for the requested variance.  It would only require the Board -- this interpretation that is being proposed by the intervenors would only require the Board to find that there has been a reviewable error in its decision and order, and then no need to consider grounds, such as change of circumstances.  And in my submission, that is an untenable interpretation.


So in terms of the substantive aspects of the requested variance, Staff does not have any submissions.  So -- and I do submit, however, that the proper test is the no-harm test set out in the Board's decision of RP-2005-0018.


So in summary, if, Mr. Chairman, you find that there has been a change of circumstances or new facts that justify varying the original decision and order, and if you find that there is no harm to consumers resulting from the varying order, then you, as a Panel of this Board, have the authority under Rule -- the Rules of Practice and Procedure to make that variance.


Those are my only submissions.


MR. KAISER:  And what do you make of Mr. Thompson's argument that by shifting to a second form of the transaction, by proceeding that way, the consumers, the ratepayers, will lose the benefit of the $6.5 million?  Do you think that constitutes harm or not?


MS. COCHRANE:  I think the -- what the evidence in the original hearing before you, Mr. Chairman, was that there was no harm, and I think that is the test that this Board has to apply.  And I think what we have heard subsequent from that is that there is no adverse impact by proceeding with only the first stage.


And beyond that, Staff does not have any submissions as to whether, you know, one transaction as opposed to the other is better or whether there is a benefit to ratepayers.


I think the -- you know, from a legal standpoint, the Board's case law is that the test is no harm.  And that's on the evidence before, I think, in the original hearing and some today.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


Mr. Penny?

Further Submissions by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.


Just dealing with a point of Mr. Thompson's, at the end.  He relies -- in my submission, Mr. Thompson's analysis, looking at the correspondence that preceded this motion, is completely wrong.


The discussion that took place in my letter, for example, that Mr. Thompson referred to of December 9, which was at tab 4 of his brief, page 2 of that letter, about the interpretation of the -- of condition 3, that's not an analysis that goes at all to the question of why Union was not proposing to redeem the shares.


This is a purely process discussion.  This discussion has to do with whether a motion to vary is required or not.  And we initially took the view that one was not required, because the condition assumed, as I have said earlier, and which I think is acknowledged by my friends, that condition number 3 was based on or premised on the cost saving, and we were simply saying there isn't now going to be one, so the premise on which the cost saving took place is no longer extant.  And the Board took the view that that wasn't good enough, which is fair enough.


But this -- and so we then brought the motion that the Board suggested we bring.  But this discussion -- this suggestion that Union analyzed the decision and therefore their decision not to redeem flowed from this analysis is just completely wrong.  We are talking about apples and oranges here.


My discussion is a process discussion.  It has nothing -- this so-called "analysis" Union did has nothing to do with the decision of whether it was going to redeem the pref shares or not.  This discussion has to do with what the appropriate resolution of that is from a process point of view.


So that entire discussion, and the letters and the background and the Board's direction and so on, in my submission, is completely irrelevant.  It has got nothing to do with it.  It's a background to why we're here today, but it doesn't speak to the reason that we're here today, or to -- or in fact inform or assist us in any way at all.


This suggestion that Union and Westcoast are pulling themselves up by their bootstraps, I mean, that is, perhaps, a colourful way of dealing with this management decision point.


But -- and I have dealt with that already in the -- you have to -- Mr. Thompson's submission completely ignores the fact that what we're talking about is a condition of leave.  Leave is permissive.  Leave is not saying, you must do this transaction.  Leave is saying, you may do this condition -- this transaction, and the condition, interpreted in its proper relationship to that under Section 43, in my submission, is really saying, you may transfer these shares if you reduce the costs by $1.3 million.  It doesn't say, you must reduce the costs by $1.3 million regardless of whatever happens.


That's the difference, as I said earlier, between section 36 and section 43.  We are not dealing with a rate order here.  We are not dealing with some out-of-period adjustment that Union, you know, forecast one thing and then discovered it wasn't true and comes back later and says something else, which would be the case in a rate order.  We are dealing with a condition of leave.  And that distinction, which is a very important distinction, in my submission, is completely ignored by my friends.


The -- and I guess the other thing I would say about this so-called boot-strapping argument is that it is acknowledged that the entire basis of the condition was the expectation of a redemption resulting -- that would result in a $1.3 million cost reduction.  I don't think there is any controversy about that.


And that really brings us then to Mr. -- well, and just let me say before leaving Mr. Thompson's submission that this family-law analogy -- well, you know, I mean, my view of that -- perhaps we're getting too far afield here -- is that if the guy doesn't get the job, then he doesn't have the money; then he would get his order varied.


So, I mean, it is exactly the same as the circumstance we are dealing with here.  It doesn't -- perhaps the analogy is just not helpful, but the underlying --


MR. RYDER:  If he wants -- Mr. Penny would like to see it.


MR. PENNY:  The underlying proposition -- well, my friends had their chance, and they elected not to use it, so...


The underlying proposition remains, Mr. Chairman, that -- and my friends have not addressed this at all -- is that the 100 percent basis of that condition was the expectation that there was going to be a reduction in Union's cost of service, and we now know that that reduction is not going to take place.


And that really brings me to Mr. Ryder's submission, the core of which is now very different than the argument that he was making in the original application.  The original application -- on the original application, Mr. Ryder's position was, there is going to be this saving, and because the saving wasn't disclosed, we -- that takes you outside of the rules for Z factors, et cetera, and therefore it should go to the ratepayers.  And that was the conclusion that the Board came to.


What Mr. -- but, again, it was premised on the -- 100 percent on the expectation that that saving was going to take place.


What Mr. Ryder is now saying is a very different argument.  He is now saying that, Well, if it had been disclosed back at the beginning, then we would have all agreed that the base rates would have been reduced by $1.3 million, and that is just rank speculation, in my respectful submission.


The Board's decision of November 19th had nothing to do with what would have happened back in 2008 -- or 2007, I guess it was, in a negotiation, and so -- and that is rank speculation.


I mean, the best example is that there are many agreements that deal, for example -- that have dealt with -- for example, with expected changes in taxes in which the agreement is, Well, you'll get the money if it happens.  


So it's entirely possible, indeed more than likely, that in the context of a transaction where no one knows whether it is going to happen or what the conditions might be, that people would say, Sure, if there is a saving, you will get it, but if there isn't a saving, you won't get it, because there won't be anything to share.


So, in my respectful submission, this new theory about why the 1.3 should be reflected in Union's rates is completely inconsistent with the position that was taken earlier, and, frankly, it is inconsistent, as I've said - I won't repeat myself any more on this - with the basis upon which this condition -- with the basis on which this condition was imposed.


Union is not evading a finding.  Union is simply -- well, the applicants, I should say, are simply trying to avoid a circumstance in which they are penalized for something on the basis of an expectation which has now not taken place.


Again, let me just close by saying that it is very important that what we're talking about here is a condition of leave, and without the leave there is no condition.


So it is not a situation, in my submission, in which the -- in which it can be said that this condition has this kind of independent existence which lives apart from the underlying leave application.


I think that is all I have.  Otherwise, I would be repeating myself, Mr. Chairman.  I think I covered most of these points in my argument-in-chief.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, I interpret your remarks, at a very high level, to say that, If we get the saving, i.e., the savings of 1.3 million, we'll pass them on, but we are not getting them under the revised proposal.


You said, secondly, that, If we, for whatever reason, on whatever basis, redeem these preference shares before 2014, we will give the Board notice.  And I presume that out of an abundance of caution, you would give the Board notice if you do it in 2014?


MR. PENNY:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  So it could be said that the benefit is being deferred to both parties, Union and Westcoast on the one hand and the consumers on the other?


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  I agree with that.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. KAISER:  Gentlemen, I am going to reserve on this, but costs will be awarded on the same basis as the decision of November 19th, as outlined by you, Mr. Thompson.  I think you wanted them to run from December 1st; is that right?


MR. PENNY:  I should have said, Mr. Chairman, on that point, we don't take issue with that.  The Board has already made a ruling that none of this should cost Union anything, and we accept that.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, gentlemen.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, is there an urgency on this decision?  I mean, is there a clock running on your transaction?


MR. PENNY:  I think technically the answer is no.  We would like to know, obviously, as soon as possible.


MR. KAISER:  You'll have it within two weeks.  You don't need it tomorrow?


MR. PENNY:  No.  


MR. KITCHEN:  To the extent it impacts the 2009 rate order.


MR. KAISER:  What is that date?


MR. KITCHEN:  The rate order is due on Friday, but it won't be implemented until April 1st.


MR. KAISER:  When do you need this decision to comply with that?  


MR. KITCHEN:  I believe we could incorporate it into the final order if we had it within two weeks.


MR. KAISER:  Within two weeks?


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you. 


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 11:35 a.m. 
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